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Rivard, Linda

To: Rivard, Linda
Subject: RE: Somerset Magnetometer Survey

From: Steven Hochart <shochart@dudek.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, July 26, 2023 1:53 PM 
To: patrick.green@aes.com 
Cc: Mario Rice <mario.rice@aes.com>; nathan.suttmeier@aes.com; Peggy Grant <peggy.grant@aes.com>; Rivard, Linda 
<Linda.Rivard@tetratech.com> 
Subject: RE: Somerset Magnetometer Survey 
 

❚❛❜ CAUTION: This email originated from an external sender. Verify the source before opening links or attachments. ❚❛❜ 
 
Hi Pat,  
 
Our scope of work did not include time to investigate all anomalies on the project site. When we scoped the original 
project we discussed this item and the guidance we received was to complete the following.  
 
Our team placed known anomalies on the project site prior to data collection. The known anomalies were used to verify 
the magnetometer was operating properly. After data collection was completed for the project site our field team 
checked the larger anomalies and they were all identified as trash items on the project site. Based on the field 
verification work that was completed the geophysicist that we worked with us on the project reviewed the data that was 
collected and determine that the anomalies on the site were not representative of oil infrastructure.  
 
Does this information help you for your submittal? 
 
Thank You 
Steve 
 

Steve Hochart 
Practice Director 
Mapping and Surveying Group 

 
O: 808.202.0022  C: 808.223.7907 
www.dudek.com 

 

 

From: Pat Green <patrick.green@aes.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, July 26, 2023 4:29 AM 
To: Steven Hochart <shochart@dudek.com> 
Cc: Mario Rice <mario.rice@aes.com>; Nathan Suttmeier <nathan.suttmeier@AES.COM>; Peggy Grant 
<peggy.grant@AES.COM>; Rivard, Linda <Linda.Rivard@tetratech.com> 
Subject: RE: Somerset Magnetometer Survey 
Importance: High 
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Hi Steven, this is the last component we need from you to complete our deficiency response. Can you please have a 
response by Friday, 7/28? 
 

Comment 

Appendix 3‐C: Magnetometer Survey, states that 66 anomalies had no surface expression and were not investigated 
further. Please provide a complete record of the initial investigation of these anomalies or provide analysis by a qualified 
expert with supporting information explaining why the un‐surveyed anomalies do not represent NYSDEC regulated 
wells. 

Response    
 
 

 
Pat Green 
Director (East), Permitting and Real Estate 
Pat.Green@aes.com 
 

From: Pat Green  
Sent: Monday, July 24, 2023 9:36 AM 
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
 
Hi Steven, 
 
Can you please provide this response, or a timeline to respond to this comment? 
 

 
Pat Green 
Director (East), Permitting and Real Estate 
Pat.Green@aes.com 
 

From: Rivard, Linda <Linda.Rivard@tetratech.com>  
Sent: Friday, July 21, 2023 2:53 PM 
To: Pat Green <patrick.green@aes.com>; Steven Hochart <shochart@dudek.com> 
Cc: Mario Rice <mario.rice@aes.com>; Nathan Suttmeier <nathan.suttmeier@AES.COM> 
Subject: RE: Somerset Magnetometer Survey 
 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside AES. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the 
sender. 

 
Steve ‐ no additional comments from me on this request, but do want to gauge when you will have the response back to 
us. Can we get this information from you by Tuesday next week? 
 
Thanks, 
Linda 
 

From: Pat Green <patrick.green@aes.com>  
Sent: Monday, July 17, 2023 12:04 PM 
To: Steven Hochart <shochart@dudek.com> 
Cc: Mario Rice <mario.rice@aes.com>; nathan.suttmeier@aes.com; Rivard, Linda <Linda.Rivard@tetratech.com> 
Subject: RE: Somerset Magnetometer Survey 
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❚❛❜ CAUTION: This email originated from an external sender. Verify the source before opening links or attachments. ❚❛❜ 
 
Hi Steve, 
 
Happy Monday. We looked through all the data you have shared and I think we just need a little more information to 
satisfy all of the comments we received from ORES. Can you please provide a response to the comment below? ORES 
specifically requested that a qualified expert provide the rationale relating to the response. If you are referring the 
reader to anything in the report (that ORES may have missed), please identify the section/page of the reference so we 
can make sure we’re 100% clear for ORES. 
 

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
 
Please let me know of your timeline for this response and if you have any questions. Linda Rivard of Tetra Tech (cc’d) 
is coordinating the response package and can weigh in here as well. 
 

 
Pat Green 
Director (East), Permitting and Real Estate 
Pat.Green@aes.com 
 

From: Steven Hochart <shochart@dudek.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, July 12, 2023 1:56 AM 
To: Pat Green <patrick.green@aes.com> 
Cc: Mario Rice <mario.rice@aes.com>; Nathan Suttmeier <nathan.suttmeier@AES.COM>; Peggy Grant 
<peggy.grant@AES.COM> 
Subject: RE: Somerset Magnetometer Survey 
 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside AES. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the 
sender. 

 
Hi Pat, 
 
Attached is the shapefile version.  
 
Please let me know if you have any questions, 
 
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
Sent: Tuesday, July 11, 2023 9:42 AM 
To: Steven Hochart <shochart@dudek.com> 
Cc: Mario Rice <mario.rice@aes.com>; Nathan Suttmeier <nathan.suttmeier@AES.COM>; Peggy Grant 
<peggy.grant@AES.COM> 
Subject: RE: Somerset Magnetometer Survey 
 
Thanks Steven, I think this is what we’re looking for. However, do you have it in a shapefile? 
 
We might reach out to get some verifications and maybe some explanation of methodology in the next couple weeks. 
 

 
Pat Green 
Director (East), Permitting and Real Estate 
Pat.Green@aes.com 
 

From: Steven Hochart <shochart@dudek.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, July 11, 2023 3:36 PM 
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
 
Will the attached flight lines work for what you need to submit to the agency? 
 
Thank You 
Steve 
 
 
 

Steve Hochart 
Practice Director 
Mapping and Surveying Group 

 
O: 808.202.0022  C: 808.223.7907 
www.dudek.com 

 

 

From: Pat Green <patrick.green@aes.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, July 11, 2023 2:16 AM 
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
 
I think this is a good start, but we will need the trajectory lines too. Once we have that, then maybe we can get a little
more color about the meaning of the figure so we can address the agency clearly. They ask some relatively in depth 
questions regarding the survey. 
 
Can you tell me how long it will take to get the flight lines? 
 

 
Pat Green 
Director (East), Permitting and Real Estate 
Pat.Green@aes.com 
 

From: Steven Hochart <shochart@dudek.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, July 11, 2023 2:57 AM 
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
 
Sorry we are trying to get the trajectory lines from our flight logs still. The UAV that we used for this project is no longer 
being utilized so we have to go back to an old software to process the trajectory lines.  
 
In the meantime would the agency accept the attached? The attached shows the extents of the mapping that was 
completed. This shows the 500ft area was included and analyzed in the final report. 
 
Thank You 
Steve 
 
Steve Hochart 
Practice Director 
Mapping and Surveying Group 

 
O: 808.202.0022  C: 808.223.7907 
www.dudek.com 

 

 

From: Pat Green <patrick.green@aes.com>  
Sent: Friday, July 7, 2023 7:11 AM 
To: Steven Hochart <shochart@dudek.com>; Ryan Shupert <rshupert@dudek.com> 
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
 
Just checking in here. 
 

 
Pat Green 
Director (East), Permitting and Real Estate 
Pat.Green@aes.com 
 

From: Pat Green  
Sent: Thursday, July 6, 2023 8:35 AM 
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
 
Thank you, looking forward to it! 
 

 
Pat Green 
Director (East), Permitting and Real Estate 
Pat.Green@aes.com 
 

From: Steven Hochart <shochart@dudek.com>  
Sent: Thursday, July 6, 2023 2:26 AM 
To: Pat Green <patrick.green@aes.com>; Ryan Shupert <rshupert@dudek.com> 
Cc: Mario Rice <mario.rice@aes.com>; Florence Masson <florence.masson@AES.COM>; Nathan Suttmeier 
<nathan.suttmeier@AES.COM>; Peggy Grant <peggy.grant@AES.COM> 
Subject: RE: Somerset Magnetometer Survey 
 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside AES. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the 
sender. 

 
Hi Pat,  
 
I’ll work with our team on Thursday to get this wrapped up. The flight lines are one source of information. But with 
anomalies this large that were being searched for you don’t need to fly the UAV along the 500ft buffer to accurately map 
the area inside the 500ft buffered area.  
 
We can provide the flight lines and also a letter explaining the mapping methodology more to help them understand 
what was completed. 
 
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
Sent: Wednesday, July 5, 2023 7:47 AM 
To: Ryan Shupert <rshupert@dudek.com>; Steven Hochart <shochart@dudek.com> 
Cc: Mario Rice <mario.rice@aes.com>; Florence Masson <florence.masson@AES.COM>; Nathan Suttmeier 
<nathan.suttmeier@AES.COM>; Peggy Grant <peggy.grant@AES.COM> 
Subject: RE: Somerset Magnetometer Survey 
 
Hi Ryan and Steven, 
 
Hope you had a nice holiday. I’d like to push on this a little bit because we met with ORES today and they did in fact 
say the magnetometer survey did not meet requirements under 94c, so we really need the flight lines as well. 
 
Please let me know what timeline this request is on. 
 

 
Pat Green 
Director (East), Permitting and Real Estate 
Pat.Green@aes.com 
 

From: Peggy Grant <peggy.grant@AES.COM>  
Sent: Monday, July 3, 2023 9:04 AM 
To: Ryan Shupert <rshupert@dudek.com>; Pat Green <patrick.green@aes.com>; Steven Hochart 
<shochart@dudek.com> 
Cc: Mario Rice <mario.rice@aes.com>; Florence Masson <florence.masson@AES.COM>; Nathan Suttmeier 
<nathan.suttmeier@AES.COM> 
Subject: RE: Somerset Magnetometer Survey 
 
Good morning Ryan, 
 
Thanks for sending this Google Earth .kmz over.  What we also will need to address the specific questions from ORES are 
shapefiles of the survey flight lines as depicted in the below screenshot.  Could you please send the shapefiles of the 
flight lines?  Thank you! 
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Peggy 

  
Peggy A. Grant  
Manager, Permitting  
AES Clean Energy | The AES Corporation     
peggy.grant@aes.com  
Mobile: 1.303.808.4720   

  
 

From: Ryan Shupert <rshupert@dudek.com>  
Sent: Friday, June 30, 2023 3:59 PM 
To: Pat Green <patrick.green@aes.com>; Steven Hochart <shochart@dudek.com> 
Cc: Peggy Grant <peggy.grant@AES.COM>; Mario Rice <mario.rice@aes.com>; Florence Masson 
<florence.masson@AES.COM>; Nathan Suttmeier <nathan.suttmeier@AES.COM> 
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
 
Nice to meet you.  Please see attached kmz of the flight area.  Let us know if you have any questions. 
 
Thank you, 
Ryan 
 
Ryan Shupert 
Project Manager   
Mapping and Surveying Group 
DUDEK 
937.641.9139 
Visit www.dudek.com 

 
 

From: Pat Green <patrick.green@aes.com>  
Sent: Friday, June 30, 2023 1:56 PM 
To: Steven Hochart <shochart@dudek.com> 
Cc: Peggy Grant <peggy.grant@AES.COM>; Mario Rice <mario.rice@aes.com>; Florence Masson 
<florence.masson@AES.COM>; Nathan Suttmeier <nathan.suttmeier@AES.COM>; Ryan Shupert 
<rshupert@dudek.com> 
Subject: RE: Somerset Magnetometer Survey 
 
Thank you Steven.  
 
Ryan, let me know if you need any information for the request. 
 

 
Pat Green 
Director (East), Permitting and Real Estate 
Pat.Green@aes.com 
 

From: Steven Hochart <shochart@dudek.com>  
Sent: Friday, June 30, 2023 1:34 PM 
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
Subject: Re: Somerset Magnetometer Survey 
 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside AES. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the 
sender. 

 
Hi Pat  
 
Sorry I'm on vacation but have added on Ryan Shupert from our team. Ryan can send you the kmz of the flight area.  
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Thank you 
Steve  
 
Steve Hochart 
Practice Director 
www.dudek.com 
808‐202‐0022 
 

From: Pat Green <patrick.green@aes.com> 
Sent: Friday, June 30, 2023 12:23 PM 
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
  
It seems like Peggy has had some trouble reaching you the last couple weeks. We absolutely need shapefiles of the 
limits flown for the magnetometer studies to verify that we met ORES requirements. Both ORES and our team has 
suspicions that we have a data gap that we need to address. Our response is constrained by regulatory timelines and 
this data is crucial to finishing our response to comments. 
  
Please provide a status of fulfilling the request. Thank you. 
  

 
Pat Green 
Director (East), Permitting and Real Estate 
Pat.Green@aes.com 
  

From: Steven Hochart <shochart@dudek.com>  
Sent: Thursday, June 22, 2023 4:33 AM 
To: Peggy Grant <peggy.grant@AES.COM> 
Cc: Mario Rice <mario.rice@aes.com>; Pat Green <patrick.green@aes.com>; Florence Masson 
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

  
Hi Peggy, 
  
Sorry for the delay on this. The project was archived and it takes longer to get all of the files restored. I can verify for you 
the areas below were flown. Each of these areas included an additional 500ft buffer.  
  
  
  
Steve Hochart 
Practice Director 
www.dudek.com 
808‐202‐0022 
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From: Peggy Grant <peggy.grant@AES.COM> 
Sent: Thursday, June 15, 2023 10:13 AM 
To: Steven Hochart <shochart@dudek.com> 
Cc: Mario Rice <mario.rice@aes.com>; Pat Green <patrick.green@aes.com>; Florence Masson 
<florence.masson@AES.COM>; Nathan Suttmeier <nathan.suttmeier@AES.COM>; Dustin Gaessner 
<dgaessner@dudek.com>; Erlin Worthington <eworthington@dudek.com> 
Subject: Somerset Magnetometer Survey  
  
Good afternoon Steven, 
  
In March of 2022, Dudek had conducted the magnetometer survey for the AES Somerset Solar Project (you had 
previously coordinated with Jack Donelan regarding this).  We’ve submitted the application to the Office of Renewable 
Energy Siting and they’ve inquired about the extent of the magnetometer survey.  Could you please review the flights 
flown for the Somerset Solar Project Magnetometer Survey and verify they included the 500’ buffer as required per 19 
NYCRR § 900‐2.4(u)(1)?  Additionally, could you please send me SHP files of the flights flown? 
  
If you have any questions, please feel free to e‐mail or call me at the mobile number indicated below. 
  
Thank you, 
Peggy 
  

  
Peggy A. Grant  
Manager, Permitting  
AES Clean Energy | The AES Corporation     
peggy.grant@aes.com  
Mobile: 1.303.808.4720   
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1 Overview 

1.1 Project Description 

Dudek was contracted by AES Clean Energy Development to acquire, process, and deliver magnetometer data and 

derivative products for a project in Northwest New York, with emphasis on identifying potential abandoned oil and 

gas wells. The project areas cover approximately 1,400 acres (ac), divided into 9 subsections of Somerset, New 

York. 

Figure 1- Project Location 
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2 Magnetic Data Acquisition 
Methodology 

Magnetometer acquisition for the 9 sub-areas at Somerset was performed from June 15 – June 25, 2022 totaling 

83 discrete flights. The survey utilized a Geometrics MagArrow Magnetometer suspended from a DJI Matrice 600 

Pro drone. Dudek flew at an altitude of 100 ft above ground level (AGL) using terrain following software to maintain 

consistent altitude. Flight surveys were flown at a speed of 10 mph with 100 ft horizontal distance between flight 

lines.  

Table 1. Flight Parameters 

Flight Parameter Parameter Value 

Altitude (ft AGL) 100 

Speed (mph) 10 

Flight line spacing (ft) 100 

Flight number 83 

Source: Dudek 2021 

Figure 2 - Project Area 
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  Figure 3 - Flight Lines 
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2.1 Magnetometer Acquisition Equipment 

 

 

The Matrice 600 Pro (M600 Pro) is a six propped rotary-wing drone built with a modular design for payloads up to 

6 kg (13.2 lbs). Unlike the smaller DJI drones, the 

M600 Pro does not come with any built-in sensors. 

Instead, this drone is truly for commercial uses and 

can haul any number of sensors. With all six batteries 

and no payload the M600 Pro has a max flight time 

of 32 minutes and with the max 6kg payload it has a 

flight time of 16 minutes. 

The M600 Pro comes with preinstalled arms and 

antennae that fold down for easy transportation. This 

allows the field crews to quickly set up, take down, 

and move take off locations without wasting valuable 

field time disconnecting and re-connecting various 

components.  

To help ensure safety in the field the M600 Pro 

comes standard with multiple safety systems. 

Foremost, the A3 Pro Flight Controller has triple 

modular redundancy, diagnostic algorithms that compare sensor data from three sets of GNSS units, and analytical 

redundancies to guarantee the drone flies where programmed to. Additionally, the propulsion system is actively 

cooled and has a dust proof seal resulting in less maintenance and ensures reliable operation for an extended 

period. Finally, the battery management system monitors all six batteries during flight to ensure a safe landing in 

the event of single battery failure. 

Geometrics MagArrow Magnetometer 

The MagArrow is a lightweight airborne magnetometer developed by Geometrics and designed specifically for use 

with unmanned aircraft systems (UAS). The scanner is a user-friendly and cost-efficient device used to acquire 

magnetic data by use of remotely piloted multi-rotor UAS for a variety of applications. 

Table 2. MagArrow Specifications 

Scanner Attribute Specification 

Operating Principle Laser pumped cesium vapor (Cs133 non-radioactive) 

total field scalar magnetometer. 

Operating Range 20,000 to 100,000 nT 

Gradient Tolerance 10,000nT/m 

Sampling Rate 1000 Hz. synchronized to GPS 1PPS 

DJI Matrice 600 Pro 

Exhibit A. DJI M600 Pro shown with MagArrow payload. 

 

Source: Dudek 2021 

DUDEK 
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Table 2. MagArrow Specifications 

Scanner Attribute Specification 

Bandwidth 400 Hz 

GPS Commercial grade with typical 1 m accuracy 

IMU Bosch BMI160 Accel/Gyro - 200 Hz sample rate. 

Insentek Compass - 100 Hz Sample rate 

Source: Geometrics 2022 

Geometrics G-857 base station Magnetometer 

A Geometrics G-857 base station magnetometer was set up each day at least 30 min prior to surveying to record 

the diurnal variations of the Earth’s magnetic field. The base station was automatically time synchronized to UTC 

time using as integrated GPS. The base station collected data at a rate of one reading every 1 seconds. 
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3 Post-Processing 

3.1 MagArrow Data 

For each mission, raw data files were batch processed into a single comma-delimited file (CSV) using Geometrics 

Survey Manager software. The exported CSV files are plotted using Geosoft Oasis Montaj and ESRI ArcGIS Pro and 

clipped to eliminate any non-flight line data and grouped into individual flight lines for further processing. Using 

Oasis Montaj software and the G857 base data, data was corrected for diurnal variations throughout the day of 

acquisition. Finally tie line leveling is performed to combine multiple days of acquisition. With final magnetic values, 

data is ready for interpolation and analysis. 

 

3.2 Gridding and Analysis 

The processed magnetic data values are then interpolated into raster “grids” to visual the magnetometer readings 

across the entire project site. Using Oasis Montaj generate Total Magnetic Intensity (TMI) maps and Analytic Signal 

Maps to identify areas of elevated magnetic readings. Total Magnetic Intensity best reflects the real-world magnetic 

field without major geologic trends. This data is shown in nT (nanotesla) and both negative and positive anomalies 

are visible.  

 

Analytic Signal is a filter applied TMI data and helps better delineate the boundaries of the anomaly. This is 

calculated by the square root of the squared sum of the vertical and two horizontal derivatives of the magnetic field 

resulting in units of nT/meter (nanotesla per meter). From the analytic signal grid, “peaks” are then identified using 

software. These points indicate spot locations of elevated magnetism. Recently collected orthoimagery as well as 

field inspection are then used to investigate the sources of those anomalies.  
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4 Results 

4.1 Total Field Intensity 

 

Figure 4 - Field Intensity Map 
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4.2 Analytic Signal Map 

 

  

Figure 5 - Analytic Signal Map 
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4.3 Anomaly Inspection 

There were initially 192 anomaly peaks identified in the analytic signal grid data. Using UAV aerial orthoimagery, 

UAV oblique imagery and ground level field photos Dudek collected in June 2022, Dudek deemed 108 of those 192 

points as unnecessary to investigate further due to surface evidence such as telephone poles, overhead electrical 

utilities, street lights, train infrastructure and general debris. The remaining 84 signals were investigated in person 

by a Dudek surveyor equipped with NTRIP enabled survey GNSS rover (See Appendix A for surveyed coordinates for 

each)  

Of those 84 points, 66 had no surface evidence of the source of the anomaly (shown in Red on figure 5). The 

remaining 18 locations that did have surface evidence are shown in blue in figure 5 below. See appendix B for 

photos for all 84 locations.  

 

 

 

 

Figure 6 - Field Check Results 
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Table 1 – Features Identified 

Point 
ID Northing Easting Signal Value Comments 

3 1213592 1142393 0.446219 Power pole  

4 1216392 1145893 0.363853 Power Pole 

5 1213492 1141793 0.355843 Power Pole 

6 1213492 1142093 0.345262 Power Pole 

15 1220742 1142593 0.280917 Chain-link 
fence 

16 1216892 1145943 0.27732 Power Pole 

19 1217492 1144643 0.264936 Sign 

22 1216692 1144643 0.259859 Sign 

26 1217942 1144643 0.248008 Sign 

29 1216442 1144643 0.238337 Sign 

30 1218242 1144643 0.233373 Sign 

44 1219992 1139743 0.210637 Power pole 

45 1220192 1139943 0.208309 Sign 

46 1216392 1145393 0.206372 Power pole 

47 1220642 1143593 0.202733 Possible Oil or 
Water 
Monitoring 
Well 

50 1219992 1140843 0.20011 Sign on Tree 

90 1220392 1150243 0.159757 Culvert 

91 1220542 1150243 0.159584 Culvert 

 

As indicated above, Point 47is the only anomaly that Dudek located that requires additional follow up. (See 

figures 6 and 7). Point 47 appears to be vertical metal pipe with a latching cover and a pad lock. Adjacent are two 

bollard posts. This features is approximately 10 feet south west of a rectangular structure, possibly an old storage 

container. 
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Figure 7 - Possible Oil or Water Monitoring Well 
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Figure 8 - Possible Water Monitoring or Oil Well 

 
Figure 9- Possible Water Monitoring or Oil Well - Oblique Photo  
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5 Appendix A – Surveyed Anomalies 

Point 
ID Easting Northing Height Code 

GS0052 1145243 1216650 194.4761 nothing 
27 

GS0051 1144992 1216641 189.2019 nothing 
74 

GS0050 1145004 1216986 190.5329 nothing 
78 

GS0049 1145240 1216979 196.8257 nothing 
48 

GS0048 1145262 1217695 191.7237 nothing 
68 

GS0047 1145348 1218054 191.2286 nothing 
72 

GS0046 1145712 1218058 189.1728 nothing 
70 

GS0045 1145763 1217887 187.6664 nothing 
79 

GS0044 1145876 1217675 185.4242 nothing 
28 

GS0043 1145845 1216875 241.4958 nothing 
20 

GS0042 1145849 1216744 185.4153 nothing 
08 

GS0041 1145901 1216641 203.4327 nothing 
07 

GS0040 1146127 1216256 180.9628 ck pt 
2000 

GS0039 1139714 1223772 134.7002 nothing 
25 

GS0038 1139714 1223772 134.903 nothing 
36 

GS0037 1139703 1223519 146.0749 nothing 
52 

GS0036 1139699 1223038 151.6877 nothing 
24 

GS0035 1139702 1222746 163.4944 nothing 
21 

GS0034 1139688 1222418 172.9345 nothing 
23 
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GS0033 1139667 1221776 184.6339 nothing 
33 

GS0032 1139665 1221451 188.5671 nothing 
32 

GS0031 1146730 1222495 188.6479 nothing 
11 

GS0030 1149787 1218189 231.0446 nothing 
53 

GS0029 1148199 1218300 181.8347 nothing 
38 

GS0028 1148550 1218244 180.6403 nothing 
69 

GS0027 1148802 1218153 183.5368 nothing 
49 

GS0026 1149122 1218166 194.0904 nothing 
54 

GS0025 1149436 1218096 198.9426 nothing 
65 

GS0024 1149561 1218197 206.5026 nothing 
57 

GS0023 1149771 1218901 211.6986 nothing 
88 

GS0022 1146968 1218104 158.1815 nothing 
87 

GS0021 1146970 1218117 178.0502 nothing 
87 

GS0020 1146951 1218117 170.3679 nothing 
81 

GS0019 1147262 1218180 159.0412 nothing 
51 

GS0018 1147445 1218168 177.9425 nothing 
75 

GS0017 1147457 1218188 190.1416 nothing 
64 

GS0016 1147311 1218350 183.3252 nothing 
80 

GS0015 1147251 1218671 176.2855 nothing 
100 

GS0014 1146875 1218603 176.4076 nothing 
94 

GS0013 1146831 1219060 187.4612 nothing 
86 

GS0012 1146644 1219092 183.8418 nothing 
82 

GS0011 1146427 1219096 182.7364 nothing 
84 
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GS0010 1146488 1219476 180.7257 nothing 
92 

GS0009 1146427 1219621 182.3674 nothing 
95 

GS0008 1146413 1219626 184.9443 nothing 
67 

GS0007 1146416 1219703 176.2335 nothing 
60 

gs0022 1143587 1220617 171.9972 pipe ? 47 

gs0021 1147909 1223150 170.2945 nothing 
09 

gs0020 1145018 1223317 164.9206 
 

gs0019 1145089 1223388 154.0118 
 

gs0018 1144665 1223672 164.9206 nothing 
12 

gs0017 1144736 1223742 154.0118 nothing 
13 

gs0016 1147044 1223239 220.8229 nothing 
02 

gs0015 1144733 1221687 179.4589 nothing 
59 

gs0014 1144538 1221482 181.7024 nothing 
93 

gs0013 1144720 1218119 190.6384 sign 30 

gs0012 1144711 1217880 190.8025 sign 29 

gs0011 1144701 1217322 193.5262 sign 19 

gs0010 1144749 1216564 186.9528 sign 22 

gs0009 1144713 1216357 173.6021 sign 29 

gs0008 1145416 1216306 181.79 pp 46 

gs0007 1145865 1216284 182.1827 pp 4 

2000 1146123 1216259 174.9614 CP 

NYGCS 789429 -432051 305.9 
 

GS0006 1142079 1213665 201.5511 PP 5 

GS0005 1142235 1213667 203.4755 PP 6 

GS0004 1142485 1213580 205.719 PP 3 

GS0003 1142487 1213587 203.5849 
 

GS0002 1140162 1220246 186.9202 PP 

GS0001 1140116 1220253 186.8953 SIGN 
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